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Introduction

The architecture of Armenia from the end of the 12 to the first third of the 14" century is
distinguished by the extensive construction of both religious and secular buildings, the expan-
sion of older monasteries, and the establishment of many new ones. The cultural flourishing
of this period was driven by the victories of the Armenian-Georgian troops over the Seljuks
at the end of the 12" century and the rule of the Zakarid dynasty with its capital in Ani. The
liberation of Armenia from foreign rule and the subsequent political upsurge contributed to its
active involvement in trade and cultural relations with the countries of the Near East, where
a comprehensive exchange of artistic ideas occurred between the multiethnic Christian and
Islamic populations [6]. In this historical context, a number of new constructive and decorative
techniques appeared in Armenian architecture, which became iconic for this era and are also
found in Islamic architecture (muqarnas, high portals with double frames, arabesque-type or-
nament, etc.).

Among the new artistic methods of Armenian architecture of the 13* century, a special
place is occupied by the elaborated polychrome stonework and inlays of figured slabs. Similar
principles of polychromy and mosaic decoration of buildings were also used in the Sultanate
of Rum of the late 12" to early 14" centuries. These parallels were the result of general artistic
processes across the Near East, expressed, among other things, in the tendency of mixing and
interacting of techniques and materials, and in particular — in influence of brickwork and tiles
on stonework and its décor [15, p.49]. This issue has not been deeply examined in the context
of Armenian architecture, and even less so — in its relationship with contemporaneous Seljuk
monuments. Such an analysis could shed light on the actual and controversial problems of
the relationship between the architecture of Armenia and Anatolia in the 12"-14" centuries,
the comparative study of which remains in its early stages®. Until recently, a significant gap in
this field was the limited knowledge of Armenian material among specialists in Seljuk art, and
conversely, the one-sided study of Armenian monuments by Armenian scholars, who histori-

! The research was done within the framework of a grant for the project: “Medieval Armenian Sculpture of

the 12 to the 14™ Centuries: Patterns of Development, Symbolism and Style” (25RG-6E165), provided by the
Science Committee of the Ministry of Education, Science, Culture and Sports of RA.

2 The parallels between Armenian stone mosaics and Islamic tile panels were first noted by I. Orbeli [18]. His
ideas were later developed by N. Tokarsky and A. Jakobson.
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cally lacked the opportunity and/or willingness to incorporate Anatolian monuments into their
research [7, pp. 79-106]. This study aims to examine, from a broad perspective, the issues of
polychromy and inlaid décor in monuments of two cultures and to highlight their artistic par-
allels and local peculiarities.

The tradition and evolution of polychrome masonry in medieval Armenia

Armenia is extremely rich in various types of building stone: ordinary and fine-grained
felzit tuff, basalt, andesite, limestone, etc. In the architecture of the 6"~7t centuries, along with
monochrome masonry, craftsmen employed contrasting combinations of colored stones to add
greater picturesqueness to the facades. Thus, mixed polychrome masonry of red and black tuft
was used in the cathedrals of Mren and Talin, and dark-gray and cream — in the church of Bu-
lanik (present-day Turkey) [13, vol. 3, p. 226, fig. 1629-1633]. In a number of monuments, poly-
chromy was used to accentuate certain architectural elements, such as blind arcades (Etchmi-
adzin Cathedral, Church of Zarinja) [13, vol. 1, p. 334, fig. 301; vol. 2, p. 228, fig. 661], squinches
(Church of Artsvaber, present-day Turkey) [13, vol. 2, p.29, 267, fig. 717-725]. In the Zvartnots
Cathedral, gray-brown and reddish tuff was employed in the wall masonry, while dark-gray
andesite — for the bases and capitals of the columns [13, vol. 2, p.496, fig. 1039]. In addition to
polychrome masonry, the painting of specific architectural elements has also been documented
since the late 6™ century: the squinches (St. Gayane, the Karmravor Church), the window ar-
chivolts (the churches in Nor Kyank, Pemzashen), and stones painted to imitate marble (Zvart-
nots) [13, vol. 2, pp.501-502].

In the churches of Ani during the Bagratid dynasty (885-1045), the architectural traditions
of the 7™ century were essentially continued: both in the use of mixed polychrome masonry
and in the coloring of its decorative elements (the Cathedral of Ani (989-1001), the Cathedral
of Ishkhan in Tayk (Tao) during its reconstruction in the 11" century)?. Polychrome masonry
appeared strikingly in the defensive structures of Ani as well. Thus, on the towers of the Smbat
walls from the late 10 century, we observe alternating rows of red and dark-gray stones, as well
as crosses crafted in a contrasting color, such as on the “Lion Gate’, etc. [11, fig. 34-37]. Simple
layouts of multi-colored stones in the Bagratid fortifications of the 10™"-11% centuries were fur-
ther developed in the Zakarid period. Crosses, swastikas, merlons, and checkerboard patterns
made from polychrome stones became characteristic of the 13""-century Ani towers (New Dvin
Gate, Tower of Shanoosh — N 46, tower of Mkhitarich — N 6, Tower N 50) [11, fig.45-47, 67,
81, 84, 86], where ceramic inserts also began to be used, as discussed below.

It was during the Zakarid period that architects began to more actively employ contrasting
combinations of multi-colored stone to achieve artistic effects. Polychromy was most com-
monly used on portals, less frequently on altar elevations, ceilings, and drums. One notable
example is the portal of the gavit (narthex) of Khoranashat Monastery (1222-1251), where four
colors of felzit tuff were utilized [10, pp.225-237]. The smooth tympanum above the entrance is

3 In Armenia, stone coloring was also widely applied to figurative reliefs, as demonstrated by the painted

busts of apostles on the drum of the Etchmiadzin Cathedral. Traces of paint are still visible on the 7%-century
Odzun stelae. During the Bagratid period, sculpture was often painted, as evidenced by remnants of color
and inlays on the high reliefs of the Akhtamar Church (915-921) and the polychrome statue of King Gagik I
(990-1018) from Ani.
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Fig. 1. Fragment of the altar elevation, St. Karapet church, 1216-1221,
Hovhannavank Monastery, RA, Aragatsotn province. Photo by Lilit Mikayelyan

made of a pinkish-milky block, while the arch with muqarnas above it is crafted from turquoise
stone. The second arch of a double torus is a lilac-brown, and the capitals, shaped as protruding
animal protomes, are carved from yellowish felzit (Ill. 51). These particular shades of tuff were
characteristic of the northeastern regions of Armenia (now the Tavush province), and their
combination was used both in architectural components of the portals and in the mosaic sets.

The portal of another Tavush monument — the main church of Makaravank Monastery
(1205) — is designed according to the same principle. It consists of an arched entrance and a
wide rectangular frame made of brown felzit. The space inside the frame, as well as the tym-
panum, are filled with multi-colored figured slabs (hexagons, triangles, squares, and trape-
zoids), some of which are covered with fine ornamental carving [2, fig. 25, 87; 10, p. 72, fig. 26].

A brilliant example of bi-chrome artistic masonry is the Hovhannavank Monastery, whose
main structures were built by the influential princely family of Vachutyans®. Inside the main
church of the complex — St. Karapet (1216-1221) — the dome’s sphere is adorned with twelve
profiled vertical ribs made of red tuft [10, p.68, fig.12]. Outside, the cornice belt, window
frames, and the reliefs of the labarum-rhipidions on the drum are executed in red. The rotunda
above the monastery gavit (1250) stands out with the contrast of black columns with red cap-
itals and arched rods. And finally, the altar elevation of the St. Karapet church is inlaid with
carved stone figures of the same two colors (Fig. 1). The similar artistic principle of using red,
black, and cream tuff in the masonry of certain architectural details can also be observed in two
other monasteries of the Vachutyan family — Saghmosavank and in the 13" century buildings
of the Monastery of St. Sargis in Ushi [4, p.37-39, fig. 5, 11].

Alongside polychrome masonry, in Vachutyan constructions, stone painting was also ex-
tensively used, usually in red and white. In Saghmosavank, traces of red paint are clearly visible

4 The Vachutians were one of the princely dynasties of Armenia, vassals of the Zakarids, who were granted

estates in the southern and eastern foothills of Mount Aragats (present-day Aragatsotn province) for their
military services in the struggle against the Seljuks.
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on window frames and archivolts, as well as on rosettes and animal reliefs®. In the partially
ruined gavits of Egipatrush and Astvatsnkal Monasteries (13" century), located within the Va-
chutyan domains, traces of red and white paint have been preserved on the muqarnas petals
of the vaults, as well as on the frames of portals, niches, and windows. In the gavit of Ne-
guts Monastery, likely also built by the Vachutyans in the mid-13" century [1, pp. 63-64], red
paint accentuates the details of the columns and the mesh décor of the ceiling base [10, p. 140,
fig. 17-18; p. 180, fig. 21; p. 296, fig. 8-9]. Thus, the painting of architectural details, often used
by the Vachutians, should be considered a more accessible version of polychrome masonry with
a similar visual effect.

Stone mosaics and its imitations in Armenian architecture®

Another manifestation of stone polychromy in 13t-century Armenian architecture is
mosaics of figured tiles — stars, rhombuses, or polygons — which could be either smooth or
carved. Alongside such stone sets, their relief imitations, often painted, also appear on large
blocks. If the buildings of the Tavush province were characterized by use of soft-toned felzit tuft,
as seen in the portals of Khoranashat and Makaravank, then, in the capital Ani and its environs,
local orange-terracotta and gray-black tuff were used. In Ani, mosaics primarily adorned civil
structures, such as palaces, caravanserais, and khans (city inns), with a focus on their portals
and window openings.

On the main fagade of the Paron Palace in Ani (13" century), the entire space between
the arched entrance and the outer frame, as well as the tympanum, were covered with eight-
pointed red and cross-shaped black stone tiles decorated with carvings. The tympanum of the
large window on the second tier of the facade was also adorned with bi-chrome shaped tiles,
while the remaining area outside the arch was filled with a checkerboard pattern. The portal of
another secular building in Ani — the Sarkis palace — features a similar wide frame, with its
inner field clad in six-pointed red stars and black rhombuses with carvings. [5, pp. 191-194; 11,
fig. 97-117]. The fagades of two adjoining 13"-century khans in Ani were designed similarly to
the palace ones, with a division into two tiers, the tympanum and the spandrels of which had
identical inlays. Here the entrances were also embellished with reliefs of paired dragons, lions,
and sphinxes — guardians of the threshold [11, fig. 132-136]. Ani also preserves examples of
inlaid ceilings, the most ornate of which is the mosaic in the gavit of the Holy Apostles Church,
built in the early 13" century [10, p.69, fig. 18].

The tympanums of Harichavank and Gandzasar — monuments closely tied to the ruling
Zakarid family and the capital’s architectural school — are the most similar to the portals of
Ani’. In Gandzasar (historical Artsakh), the tympanum above the western entrance of the St.
Karapet Church (1216-1238) is decorated with a mosaic of carved stones: light stars and dark

5
6

By the 13" century, the practice of stone coloring had become widespread on khachkars as well.

A more detailed systematization and analysis of stone mosaics and their imitations in Armenian architec-
ture of the 13™"-14" centuries were carried out by the author in a separate article [17].

7 The church and gavit in Harich were built under the patronage of Amirspasalar (commander-in-chief)
Zakare (1191-1212), while the founder of the Gandzasar Monastery was Hasan Jalal — the prince of Artsakh-
Khachen. His mother Khorishah, a faithful supporter of the church’s construction, was the sister of the Zakarid
brothers.
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Fig. 2. Tympanum of the portal, hospital of Divrigi, 1228-1229.
Photo by Oya Pancaroglu

rhombuses. In Harichavank, a similar composition is found above the entrance to the gavit
(early 13t century), composed of black pentagons and rhombuses, and orange triangles, all
adorned with interlaced patterns [2, fig. 60, 84]. A unique example among all polychrome por-
tals in Armenian architecture is the tympanum of the western entrance of the Gandzasar’s gavit
(1261). Unlike the usual figured tiles, it is decorated with concentric ribbon inserts of yellow
felzit, which stand out against the background of brown slabs (IlL. 52).

As seen in examples from Ani and Gandzasar, tiles in the shape of stars (from four to eight-
pointed) were most commonly used in stone mosaics, often combined with various figures be-
tween them. Such compositions are found in the portals of the church and gavit in Mshkavank
(first half of the 13" century) [2, fig. 51, 64], the church in Khoranashat (1209-1221), and the
gavit in Bardzrakash (1246-1247). Similar star-shaped compositions were also executed as false
inlays, such as on the tympanum of the Sagmosavank gavit (first quarter of the 13" century).
On it, five-pointed raised stars are carved, painted red, between which gray — the color of the
slab itself — pentagons and rhombuses appear. Unlike in Saghmosavank, where all the figures
are filled with carving, the tympanum of the church portal of the Astvatsnkal Monastery (13t
century) features a mosaic imitation with smooth, painted figures: white cross-shaped forms
with concave eight-pointed red stars in between [17, p.66-68, 71-72, fig. 7-10, 15].

Similar stone mosaics and their relief imitations are also found in Seljuk monuments. A no-
table example is the tympanum above the northern entrance of the Alaeddin (Citadel) Mosque
in Konya (1219-1220), featuring an inlay of eight-pointed stars crafted from gray marble (some
with carvings) interwoven with cross-shaped figures of white marble and small inserts of yellow
limestone placed between them [16, p.212, fig. 6]. The mosaic composition of this tympanum
is comparable to several examples from Ani, where eight-pointed stars are similarly combined
with cross-shaped tiles. Figured incrustations are also used in the complex at Divrigi [19, p. 172,
fig. 3-10], where the tympanum of the Hospital’s portal (1228-1229) is composed of five-
pointed stars interspersed with pentagons and rhombuses (Fig. 2). An identical arrangement
can be observed on the altar elevation in Hovhannavank (Fig. 1), the portals of the gavits in
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Saghmosavank and Bardzrakash, and the Khan’s portal in Ani [17, fig. 3, 9; 11, fig. 136]. In this
case, a common source of inspiration for such stone compositions in both Armenia and Ana-
tolia can be identified: ceramic tile facings. These were also based on polychromatic, repeating
patterns, typically composed of stars, crosses, and polygons.

Peculiarities of polychromy in Anatolian architecture

In the architecture of the Sultanate of Rum of the 12!"-14" centuries, polychromy also
played an important role in the artistic design of buildings. In Anatolia, as in Armenia, stone
remained the primary construction material: often limestone or sandstone and also tuff, ba-
salt and marble [14, p.158-159]. However, unlike the Armenian examples, polychromy in
Seljuk monuments was achieved to a much greater extent through the combination of mate-
rials, where stone masonry was paired with brick and inlaid with ceramic tiles, glazed bowls,
and mortar inserts [14, pp. 168, 196-197, 213-214]. Similar to Armenian buildings, the main
decorative emphasis was placed on high, recessed portals, which typically stood out against a
monochrome stone wall.

The cultural heritage of Iran, whose territories were the first to be incorporated into the
Great Seljuk Empire in the mid-11% century, played a predominant role in the formation of
Seljuk architecture. Additionally, in Anatolia the Seljuks encountered Byzantine architecture,
Syrian traditions of stone construction with extensive use of marble, and the artistic heritage
of Eastern Anatolia, which was predominantly inhabited by Armenians. All these factors de-
termined the rather eclectic character of Seljuk architecture during its formation, and in the
13"-14% centuries they were revealed in the diversity of artistic and local manifestations. The
ethnicity of the craftsmen — Greeks, Persians, Syrians, and Armenians — who carried out the
commissions of the ruling elite also played a significant role in it [6, p. 90; 15, p.43-49].

The influence of Persian architecture in Anatolia is evident in the emergence of brick struc-
tures and the adaptation of brickwork features to the stone ones. This is exemplified in the portal
of one of the early Seljuk buildings — the citadel mosque in Divrigi (1180-1181) — which
showcases a remarkable combination of techniques and materials. Its portal is constructed
from light limestone, arranged on the arch and spandrels to replicate a brick masonry pattern,
with inserts of small bricks and glazed blue tiles [20, pp. 189-190; 14, pp.39-41, fig.2.1]. The
half-columns flanking the entrance are crafted from terracotta-colored stone.

From the early 13" century, Seljuk portals began to feature the so-called striped two-tone
masonry, consisting of alternating light and dark shaped stone slabs tightly fitted together. This
technique can be seen on the lintel of the north entrance of the Citadel Mosque in Konya
(1219-1220), on the arch and broad framing of the portal of the Gk Medrese in Tokat (1277),
and so on. A similar execution of lintels with wedge-shaped bi-chrome masonry is also found
above the entrance of the Paron palace, on the inn’s portals in Ani, and the lintel of the 13t~
century gate in the Amberd Fortress [21, p. 34, ill. 36, 38].

Another characteristic form of polychromy in Anatolian buildings was stereotomic strap-
work —geometric compositions with interlacing ribbons of gray and white marble, as seen on
the portals of the Alaeddin Mosque and the Biiyiik Karatay Madrasa in Konya (both 1219-
1220). Richard McClary traces the origins of such inlays to the decoration of Syrian mihrab
niches, iwans and gates, particularly those known in Aleppo and Baghdad. On the portal of the
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Fig. 3. Tile panel, Kubadabad palace, 1219-1237, Beysehir, Turkey. https://ar.m.wikipedia.org/
wiki/%D9%85%D9%84%D9%81:Konya_Karatay_Ceramics_Museum_Kubad_Abad_Palace_
find_2405.jpg

Alaeddin Mosque, in addition to the two-tone marble on the protruding part of the arch and its
spandrels, yellow limestone is applied inside the arch. The same three-colored stones were used
in the aforementioned inlay with stars in its tympanum [16, pp. 209-215, fig. 6, 9].

The combination of yellowish and milky limestone is employed in the rich decoration of the
Hudavent Hatun Mausoleum in Nigde (1312-1313): notably on the portals and windows with
mugqarnas arches, as well as on the wide frieze in the upper part of the building. The principles
of polychromy in its portal compositionally and artistically echo those of the aforementioned
portal of the Khoranashat Monastery, with the muqarnas arch emphasized in a different color
(IIL. 51). Notably, in both examples, the openings are flanked by high-relief animal figures, and
large rosettes are carved above the arches?®.

Polychromy in the buildings of Seljuk rulers was often achieved through inlays of glazed
tiles, which were primarily imported from Iran and installed by Persian craftsmen. Since the
12t century Iranian Kashan, Sultanabad, Ray, as well as Syria, became the main centers for the
production of both domestic and architectural glazed ceramics. Tiles were produced both for
the interior facing of palaces, tombs, and mihrabs, as well as for inserts on building exteriors.
For example, tile mosaics with ornamental and figurative imagery were employed in the Seljuk
palace complexes of the Kili¢ Arslan II kiosk in Konya (1174) and in Kubadabad (1219-1237),
near Konya [14, pp.198-207, fig.3.31-39] (Fig. 3). The expensive and refined art of painted,
often lustre tiles became a distinct marker of high status and taste for the new rulers of Anatolia
and neighboring regions [20, pp. 194-195]. By the 13" century, a certain fashion for ceramic
decoration had emerged, which also influenced Armenia.

8 The images of apotropaic animals flanking entrances were widely popular in both Armenia and Anatolia

(9, pp. 188-191].
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Armenian examples of ceramic tiles and bowls

In Armenia, the use of architectural glazed ceramics is documented in a number of mon-
uments, mainly in the interiors of secular buildings. As in Anatolia, most of the tiles were
imported from Iran, as evidenced by finds in Ani, the Amberd Fortress, Garni, Metsamor, Etch-
miadzin, etc. [3, pp. 128131, Tab. 23.3-9]. The use of Iranian tiles of the late 13" to early 14
centuries is known in only two Armenian stone churches: the Spitakavor church (1321) and the
church-tomb in Yeghvard (1301-1328) [8, pp.851-856, fig. 33-36, 42-53]. In the upper part of
the circular drum of the first church, ten eight-pointed blue tiles were inserted, while beneath
the cornice of the Yeghvard church, fifty-four painted polychrome tiles of various shapes were
placed, of which only eleven have survived. Some of them bear poetic inscriptions, including
from the Shahnameh, serving as good wishes. Noteworthy, only one church in Armenia — in
the Kirants Monastery (13% century), constructed of brick — features tile mosaic revetment.
These panels, adorning all the niches of its tall drum, are composed of various combinations of
six-pointed stars and rhombuses, covered with turquoise and red glaze. The decoration of the
drum in Kirants is an exception in Armenian religious architecture; however, such tile cladding
was quite typical for brick minarets, mausoleums, and mihrab in Anatolia, Iran, and Central
Asia. The decoration of Kirants can be compared to the design of the drum niches of the Sifaiye
Medrese (1217) in Sivas (Armenian Sebastia), which features similar tile compositions based
on six-pointed stars.

In addition to tiles, glazed bowls were also used in Armenia. Early examples can be seen
on the fortress walls of Ani, such as on the Tower of Shanoosh — N 46 [11, fig.81], as well as
on the walls of the Amberd Fortress, which came under the control of the Vachutyan family
in the early 13" century. At Amberd, the Vachutyans constructed additional fortifications and
new gates, incorporating two-tone inlays. One of the surviving hexagonal stones from this set
contains a recess — a socket for a glazed ceramic insert — presumably located at the center of
the tympanum. Such inserts, typically turquoise or blue in color, enhanced the polychrome
masonry of the 13™ century and most likely served as apotropaic devices against evil eye [21,
pp-31-36, fig.37-39]. A similar glazed insert to the one at Amberd was also present on the
portal of the Paron Palace in Ani, as evidenced by an archival photograph showing a socket on
the upper central stone [11, fig. 99]. Glazed bowl inserts are also well-documented in Seljuk
architecture. These can be seen on the portal of the Sultan Melik Tomb in Kemah (1190), built
of bricks, as well as in the upper sections of the stone walls of the Kamereddin Tomb in Divrigi
(1196) [14, pp.40, 101, fig. 2.48-49].

Thus, ceramic tiles did not achieve widespread use in the Armenian architecture and re-
mained foreign to church décor. However, their popularity in neighboring cultures, applying of
imported tiles in Armenian secular buildings, and the resulting aesthetic norms and patterns
they introduced significantly influenced the development of local stone mosaics. This is also
evidenced by a comparative analysis of the imagery and style of Armenian carved stone tiles
and their imitations with the images and decoration of Islamic tiles. The most striking example
of this influence can be observed on the portal of the main church of the Nor Varagavank
Monastery.
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Inlay of the Nor Varagavank portal and its tile parallels

Among all Armenian polychromatic portals, the portal of the main church of the Holy
Mother of God (1224-1237) in Nor Varagavank has the most technically complex and richest
in images mosaic. Here, the area between double framing of the entrance — arched and rect-
angular ones — is covered with shaped tiles crafted from felzit tuff of three shades (Ill. 53).
At the upper section of the portal, elongated purple-brown hexagons with mostly figurative
carvings seem to come to the fore, while turquoise and yellowish stars between them are per-
ceived as the background. This method was common in ceramic mosaics as well, where large,
often star-shaped pictorial tiles were paired with smaller, usually monochrome background
ones, as seen in the tile sets from the Konya and Kubadabad palaces [14, fig. 3.33-34] (Fig. 3).
In Nor Varagavank, some large hexagonal tiles feature carved figures, including an angel, a
Crucifixion scene with an inscription, crosses, the Tree of Life with birds on its branches, feline
predators and birds, a griffin, intertwined dragons, mirrored sphinxes sharing a single head,
animal combat scenes, etc. Nearly all the images are set against an intricate vegetal background,
almost merging with it, and the figures can only be distinguished upon close inspection. The
remaining tiles are adorned with arabesque patterns (Fig. 4).

The inlay technique employed on Armenian portals, wherein stone tiles were first cut, then
covered with refined carvings, and tightly arranged on mortar, closely resembles the creation
and laying of ceramic tiles on the monuments in the Near and Middle East of the same pe-
riod. Glazed tiles, shaped as stars, rhombuses, polygons or squares were produced with both
smooth surfaces and relief modeling techniques. In Islamic art, tiles with figurative imagery
were exclusively used in secular buildings, while in religious and memorial architecture, tiles
were adorned with ornamental painting, often incorporating Quranic inscriptions. The tiles
from Kubadabad depict sirens, sphinxes, double-headed eagles, fish, griffins, paired and single

Fig. 4. Fragment of the stone mosaic, Western portal of Nor
Varagavank church, 1224-1237, RA, Tavush province.
Photo by Lilit Mikayelyan
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Fig. 5. Fragment of the altar elevation, Vanstan church, 1212-1227, RA,
Ararat province (archive photo of the Research on Armenian Architecture)

birds, and predatory animals, which echo the imagery of the stone tiles in Nor Varagavank, as
well as the depictions within the eight-pointed stars in the false mosaics of the altar elevations
in Makaravank and Vanstan (Fig. 5) [17, fig. 18-22]. In addition to the shared repertoire of
animalistic, allegorical imagery on both Islamic and Armenian tiles, they also exhibit similar
stylization and ornamentation of animals. As a result, the small figures on the Nor Varagavank
portal are perceived primarily as a polychrome rhythmic pattern, much like the colorful, ara-
besque-covered ceramic mosaics of the 13t-14" centuries.

The elaborate incrustation of Nor Varagavank can only be rivaled by examples of the Ani
portals, while the latter do not have any figurative images — at least none have survived to
this day. The emergence of such a sophisticated work far from the capital, in the domains of
the Kyurikid princes’, can be explained by two factors. According to epigraphic and written
sources, the main church was commissioned by Vasak Kyurikyan, whose wife, Khatun, was the
daughter of a prominent nobleman from Ani serving at the Zakarid court. Furthermore, based
on the inscription on the church’ altar conch, the architect of the structure was likely “UCESh
JU INES QUAUL” — a master from Ani named Gazan [12, pp. 69-71]. All of this points
to the connection between the Nor Varagavank church and the capital’s school of the first half
of the 13t century. Notably, in the nearby Khoranashat Monastery, which also belonged to
the Kyurikids, both the portals of the main church and its altar elevation also featured stone
mosaics.

Conclusion
In Armenia, the use of polychrome stonework to achieve artistic effects has been docu-
mented since the early medieval period'’. In the 6"~11t centuries, mixed multi-colored ma-

The Kyurikids were a junior branch of the Armenian royal Bagratid dynasty, who established the Kingdom

of Tashir-Dzoraget in the northern part of the country in the second half of the 10 century. As their power
gradually waned, the last Kyurikid princes continued to rule in the northeastern part of the Tavush region until
the mid-13™ century.

10" No evidence of such a method in antique Armenian architecture has survived. Mosaics of polychrome
stone tiles were used in the inner decoration of Urartian palaces [17, p.61].
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sonry of walls and highlighting of certain structural or decorative elements with variously
colored stone (or its painting) were used. By the 13" century, in addition to these methods,
inlays of polychrome shaped tiles and their relief imitations (sometimes painted) became
widely employed. The art of stone mosaics was particularly advanced in monuments of Ani and
its environs, as well as in northeastern Armenia, a region rich in felzits of various shades. In
13‘h—14th-century Seljuk Anatolia, polychrome decoration using marble, limestone, brick, and
glazed inserts was most commonly concentrated on portals, a similar practice can be observed
in Armenia. Figured sets or false mosaics were often applied on the altar elevations of Arme-
nian churches, which can generally be compared to the principles of tile decoration in mihrab
niches.

The 12t'-14™ centuries marked another phase of the expansion of Iranian culture across the
Near East and South Caucasus, which also played a significant role in the formation of Seljuk
architecture in Anatolia. One of its manifestations was the development of tiled decoration
throughout the region. The popularity and fashion for Iranian tiles led to their widespread use
not only in the brick architecture but also in the incrustation of stone structures, as frequently
seen in Seljuk monuments and, quite rarely, in Armenian ones. Moreover, in Armenia and
partly in Anatolia (Konya, Divrigi), the art of ceramic tiles “transformed” into stone sets, with
identical compositional schemes and pictorial repertoire. The analysis of reliefs on individual
tiles and their imitations on the 13"-century Armenian monuments reveals that they were
created not according to the canons of monumental sculpture, but following the principles of
shallow relief and painting, typical of decorative tiles.
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Abstract. The architecture of Zakarid Armenia (late 12" — first third of the 14" century) is characterized
by the large-scale construction of secular and church buildings, novelty of structural and decorative executions,
which have a number of parallels with the contemporaneous monuments of the Rum Sultanate. This was due to
similar traditions of stone construction techniques and a wide exchange of artistic ideas in the region. Among
them, polychrome stone masonry and mosaics of figured tiles stand out. In Armenia, rich in building stone,
such sets were widely used in the capital Ani and its surrounding monuments, in which reddish and gray tuff
was applied. In the north-east of the country, polychrome portals and their stone inlays were composed of local
felzit tuff of soft shades. The compositions of Armenian mosaics and images on individual slabs and their relief
imitations testify to the influence of the art of ceramic tiles. Similar inlays are also found on Seljuk monuments,
also distinguished by the polychrome portals. In the latter, the mixing and mutual influence of different tech-
niques and materials and the frequent use of tiles in building decor were especially relevant. The development
of glazed architectural ceramics, with the main centers in Iran, resulted in the widespread popularity of this
art form throughout the Near East, significantly influencing the technique and patterns of stone sets. While
in Armenia, the architecture was characterized by stony, more restrained polychrome building decoration, the
architecture of Seljuk Anatolia was more multi-colored due to the significantly greater use of glazed tiles.
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Haspanne crarbu. [lonmuxpomHas Kmajjka u KaMeHHbIe MHKPYCTAI[MY B I€KOPATUBHON CUCTeMe apMAH-
ckux naMsaTHIKoB XIII-XIV BEKOB U X CebKyKCKIe Mapaeny’!

Caepnenins 06 aBrope. Mukaersis, JInmr IllaBapineBHa — HaydHbIT COTpyAHUK. EpeBaHcKmit rocynap-
CTBEHHBIN YHUBEpCUTET, yil. Aneka MaHyksHa, 1, Epesan 0025, ApmeHns; mikalil@mail.ru; SPIN-kop: 7864-
1907; ORCID: 0000-0001-8766-2872; Scopus ID: 57208114675

AnHoramua. Apxutektypa 3axapupackoit Apmennu (koren XII — meppas Tpers XIV B.) ormmyaercs
MAaCIITaOHbIM CTPOUTENTBCTBOM CBETCKUX VM IIEPKOBHBIX COOPY)KEHINII, HOBU3HOI KOHCTPYKTUBHBIX U [€KO-
PaTMBHBIX PeIleHNiT, MMEIOLIMX PAJ, Mapajleneil ¢ efMHOBpEMEHHbIMY IIaMATHUKaMy PymMckoro cynraHara.
ITocepHee 6bIIO BBI3BAHO CXOFHBIMIL TPASULIMSIMI KAMEHHOI CTPOUTEIbHOI TEXHUKI I IINPOKUM OOMEHOM
XyIO>KeCTBEeHHBIMM MfleAMMI B pernone. Cpey Hux 0co60 BbIfie/AeTCA MOMMXPOMHAA KaMeHHasA KIafika 1 Mo-
3auKM 13 QUIYPHBIX IVIMTOK. B 60ratoit cTponTenpHBIM KaMHeM ApPMEHNM Takye HabOpBI IIMPOKO IpyMe-
HAIUCH B CTONNUIIe AHU M NMAMATHMKAX ee KPyra, B KOTOPBIX MCIIONb30BaIM KPacCHOBATHIIL U cepblil Tyd. Ha
CeBepO-BOCTOKE CTPAaHbl MOIMXPOMHBIE TIOPTA/Ibl ¥ MX KaMeHHbIe MHKPYCTALUN COCTABIAMNCH U3 MECTHOTO
¢denp3uTHOro Tyda MArKMX OTTEHKOB. KOMIO3numm apMAHCKIX MO3aMK 1 1300 pakeH)A Ha OTHEIbHbIX IUINT-
Kax I UX penbeHbIX MMUTALVSX CBUETEMbCTBYIOT O BIMSHUN Ha HUX MCKYCCTBA KePAMIYECKNX U3PasLOB.
CxopHble MHKPYCTALMM BCTPEYAIOTCA U Ha CENIb/PKYKCKMX NMAMATHMKAX, TAKXKe OT/IMYAIONIVXCA ITOUXPOMUeit
OpTanoB. B mocmenuux 651111 0CO6EHHO aKTya/IbHBI CMELIeHNEe U B3aVIMOB/IVsIHIE Pa3HBIX TEXHIUK VI MaTepu-
aJI0B U YacToe IPYMeHeHNe U3PA310B B OT/E/IKe 3[aHMil. PasBuTne cTponTe/bHOI I71a3ypOBAHHOI KEPAaMUKI,
C OCHOBHBIMM IleHTpaMM B VIpaHe, npuseno K ee nomynAapHocTy Ha BceM Ilepenrnem BocToke u BImAHMIO ee
TEeXHUKY U y30pOB Ha KaMeHHble Habopbl. Eciu B Apmennn nmpeo6iaaia KaMeHHasA, 6ojee ciepykKaHHasA Mo-
JIMXPOMHAsI TeKOPALVIs 3AaHMIL, TO APXUTEKTYPa CeMbKYKCKOI AHaTONNMY OblTa 60/Iee MHOTOL[BETHOII B CHITY
3HAYUTETIbHO OOJIBLIErO IIPUMEHEHA B Hell I71a3ypOBaHHbIX U3Pa3IIoB.

KnroueBble cnoBa: apMAHCKasA CpelHEBEKOBAs ApXUTEKTYPa, TOMMXPOMHasA K/Iajika, AHM, KaMeHHas MO3a-
MK, MHKPYCTAIMsA, IOPTAIbl, CEMbPKYKCKIE MAMATHUKY, UCTTAMCKYE U3Pa3IIbl

11 ViccnepoBanue IPOBOJMIOCH B paMKax IpaHTa Ha IIpoeKT «CpeiHeBeKoBask apMsHCKas cKynbnTypa XII-

XIV BekoB: MORe/ Pa3BUTHS, CUMBO/MKA 11 CTHIb» (25RG-6E165), npenocTtaBieHHoro Hay4HsIM KOMMTE-
TOM MuHMCTepcTBa 06pa3oBaHIsA, HAYKIL, KYIbTYpBL 1 criopTa Pecry6mvku ApmeHns.
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TIL. 51. Western portal, gavit of Khoranashat IIl. 52. Western portal, gavit of Gandzasar
monastery, 1222-1251, RA, Tavush province. Photo monastery, 1261, Historical Artsakh. Photo by Arsen
by Lilit Mikayelyan Harutunyan

I1l. 53. Western portal,
church of the Holy
Mother of God, 1224~
1237, Nor Varagavank
monastery, RA, Tavush
province. Photo by Lilit
Mikayelyan
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